IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CURLEY CAMP HOWARD CAMP MARTY TATE, D/B/A TATE LOGGING

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-01076

CLINT STOKES

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MONROE COUNTY MISSISSIPPI

APPEAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS CURLEY CAMP, HOWARD CAMP, MARTY TATE, D/B/A TATE LOGGING

CARTER DOBBS, JR.

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

103 2ND AVENUE NORTH
POST OFFICE BOX 517
AMORY, MISSISSIPPI 38821
TEL: (662) 256-5697
FAX: (662) 256-1483
carterdobbslaw@gmail.com

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANTS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CURLEY CAMP HOWARD CAMP MARTY TATE, D/B/A TATE LOGGING

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-01076

CLINT STOKES

APPELLEE

I. APPELLANTS' STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE ALLOWANCE OF ATTORNEY FEES AND/OR EXPERT WITNESS FEES, AS PROVIDED BY § 95-5-10(3), MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972, AS AMENDED, DOES NOT APPLY TO A SUCCESSFUL DEFENDANT IN A TIMBER TRESPASS CASE FILED PURSUANT TO SAID STATUTE.

II. APPELLANTS' STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(A) NATURE OF THE CASE.

This appeal involves one single issue, and that issue is whether the trial Court may allow attorney fees and/or expert witness fees to a successful Defendant in a timber trespass case filed under § 95-5-10(3), Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended.

(B) COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW.

Plaintiff/Appellee in this case will be referred to as "Stokes." Defendants/Appellants will be referred to as "Camp brothers" and "Tate."

Stokes and the Camp brothers are the owners of adjoining tracts of land in Monroe County, Mississippi. Stokes owns the tract of land lying to the East and the Camp brothers own the land lying to the West. Stokes filed a Complaint For Trespass And Wrongful Cutting Of Timber against the Camp brothers and Tate pursuant to § 95-5-10(3), Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, alleging that Tate, with the Camp brothers' consent, cut timber across the common boundary line on his property. The Camp brothers and Tate filed an Answer denying Stokes' claim, and filed a Counter-Complaint For Cancellation Of Cloud On Title, asking the Court to determine that an old wire fence was the common boundary line between the respective tracts of land.

The trial Court determined that the central issue was the location of the common boundary line between the Camp brothers and Stokes, which determination would be dispositive of the issue of ownership of the land and timber allegedly wrongfully cut.

The case was tried, and on April 29, 2008, the trial Judge entered an Opinion And Judgment, (R. 3, R. E. 3) dismissing Stokes' Complaint For Timber Trespass and finding that the fence line alleged by the Camp brothers and Tate to be the true boundary line, was in fact, the boundary line between the lands of the respective parties.

On May 9, 2008 the Camp brothers and Tate filed a Motion To Alter And Amend
Opinion And Judgment And To Assess Court Costs. On May 27, 2008 an Order Denying
Motion To Alter And Amend Opinion And Judgment And To Assess Court Costs was entered
(R.16, R. E. 16.) On June 13, 2008 an Amended Order Denying Motion To Alter And Amend
Opinion And Judgment And To Assess Court Costs was entered (R. 17, R. E. 17.) On June 19,
2008 the Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal.

It is from the Amended Order Denying Motion To Alter And Amend Opinion And Judgment And To Assess Court Costs that Appellants Camp brothers and Tate have filed this appeal.

- (C) STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.
- (1) Stokes and the Camp brothers are owners of adjoining tracts of land in Monroe County, Mississippi. Stokes owns the tract of land lying to the East and the Camp brothers own the land lying to the West. Stokes purchased his property in April, 2006. The Camp brothers and their family have owned their land since the year 1911.

- (2) In 2007 Tate, acting in contractual concert with the Camp brothers, cut the timber on their land up to an old fence line that they asserted was the line between their land and that of Stokes. Stokes disagreed with the location of the common boundary line and filed suit against the Camp brothers and Tate pursuant to § 95-5-10(3), Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. The Camp brothers and Tate filed an Answer denying Stokes' claim, and they also filed a Counter-Complaint For Cancellation Of Cloud On Title, asking the Court to determine that an old wire fence, up to which the timber was cut, was the common boundary line between the respective tracts of land owned by the parties.
- (3) The case was tried before the Chancellor, and the Court determined that the central issue was the location of the common boundary line between the Camp brothers and Stokes. On April 29, 2008 the trial Judge entered an Opinion And Judgment (R. 3, R. E. 3), dismissing Stokes' Complaint For Timber Trespass and finding that the old fence line alleged by the Camp brothers and Tate to be the boundary line was, in fact, the true boundary line of the properties of the respective parties.
- (4) On May 9, 2008 the Camp brothers and Tate filed a Motion To Alter And Amend Opinion And Judgment And To Assess Court Costs, alleging that pursuant to § 95-5-10(3), Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, the Court should have awarded them, as successful parties in the litigation, all reasonable expert witness fees and attorney's fees.
- (5) On June 13, 2008 the Court entered an Amended Order Denying Motion To Alter And Amend Opinion And Judgment And To Assess Court Costs (R. 17, R. E. 17,) finding that § 95-5-10(3) does not apply to a successful Defendant in a case filed pursuant to this timber trespass statute.

(6) The Court in its Amended Order clarified that no hearing was held by the Court as to any allowable amount of attorney fees and/or expert witness fees, and because the Court found that § 95-5-10(3) did not apply to successful Defendants in a timber trespass case under said statute, no such hearing was deemed necessary by the Court.

III. SUMMARY OF APPELLANTS' ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE ALLOWANCE OF ATTORNEY FEES AND/OR EXPERT WITNESS FEES, AS PROVIDED BY § 95-5-10(3), MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972, AS AMENDED, DOES NOT APPLY TO A SUCCESSFUL DEFENDANT IN A TIMBER TRESPASS CASE FILED PURSUANT TO SAID STATUTE.

The statute under which Plaintiff Stokes' suit was filed and tried, § 95-5-10(3), Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, states that "All reasonable expert witness fees and attorney's fee shall be assessed as Court costs in discretion of the Court." This statute does not state that "the successful Plaintiff's" witness fees and attorney's fees shall be assessed as Court costs. "All" means what it says; that the statute on its face applies to successful Defendants, as well as successful Plaintiffs.

Rule 54(d) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides that costs shall be allowed as a matter of course to the prevailing party, Defendants Camp brothers and Tate in this case.

IV. APPELLANTS' ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE ALLOWANCE OF ATTORNEY FEES AND/OR EXPERT WITNESS FEES, AS PROVIDED BY § 95-5-10(3), MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972, AS AMENDED, DOES NOT APPLY TO A SUCCESSFUL DEFENDANT IN A TIMBER TRESPASS CASE FILED PURSUANT TO SAID STATUTE.

Appellants Camp brothers and Tate were the prevailing parties in the timber trespass case filed by Appellee Stokes and tried in the lower Court. The timber trespass suit was filed by Stokes pursuant to § 95-5-10, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. As prevailing parties, Appellants Camp brothers and Tate are, by the plain reading of this statute, are entitled to reasonable expert witness fees and attorney's fees.

§ 95-5-10 reads in its entirety as follows:

(1) If any person shall cut down, deaden, destroy or take away any tree without the consent of the owner of such tree, such person shall pay to the owner of such tree a sum equal to double the fair market value of the tree cut down, deadened, destroyed or taken away, together with the reasonable cost of reforestation, which cost shall not exceed Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (250.00) per acre. The liability for the damages established in this subsection shall be absolute and unconditional and the fact that a person cut down, deadened, destroyed or took away any tree in good faith or by honest mistake shall not be an exception or defense to liability. To establish a right of the owner prima facie to recover under the provisions of this subsection, the owner shall only be required to show that such timber belonged to such owner, and that such timber was cut down, deadened, destroyed or taken away by the defendant, his agents or employees, without the consent of such owner. The remedy provided for in this section shall be the exclusive remedy for the cutting down, deadening, destroying or taking away of trees and shall be in lieu of any other compensatory, punitive or exemplary damages for the cutting down, deadening, destroying or taking away of trees but shall not limit actions or awards for other damages caused by a person.

- (2) If the cutting down, deadening, destruction or taking away of a tree without the consent of the owner of such tree be done willfully, or in reckless disregard for the rights of the owner of such tree, then in addition to the damages provided for in subsection (1) of this section, the person cutting down, deadening. destroying or taking away such tree shall pay to the owner as a penalty Fifty-five Dollars (\$55.00) for every tree so cut down, deadened, destroyed or taken away if such tree is seven (7) inches or more in diameter at a height of eighteen (18) inches above ground level, or Ten Dollars (\$10.00) for every such tree so cut down, deadened, destroyed or taken away if such tree is less than seven (7) inches in diameter at a height of eighteen (18) inches above ground level, as established by a preponderance of the evidence. To establish the right of the owner prima facie, to recover under the provisions of this subsection, it shall be required of the owner to show that the defendant or his agents or employees, acting under the command or consent of their principal, willfully and knowingly, in conscious disregard for the rights of the owner, cut down, deadened, destroyed or took away such trees.
- (3) All reasonable expert witness fees and attorney's fees shall be assessed as court costs in the discretion of the court.

The Chancellor in her Amended Order Denying Motion To Alter And Amend Opinion And Judgment And To Assess Court Costs (R. 17, R. E. 17) denied Appellants' Camp brothers' and Tate's Motion because she found that § 95-5-10(3) does not apply to a successful Defendant in a timber trespass case under this statute. She did not exercise her discretion in assessing expert witness fees and attorney's fees because she determined that the timber trespass statute does not apply to a successful Defendant in a timber trespass case. She held no hearing to determine the amount of expert witness fees and attorney's fees for the same reason (R. 17, R. E. 17.)

This statue does not state that "The successful Plaintiff's" witness fees and attorney's fees shall be assessed as court costs." The statute on its face applies to successful Defendants as well as successful Plaintiffs.

This statute should be considered in connection with Rule 54(d), *Judgment*; costs, of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, which states that:

Except when express provision thereof is made in a statute, costs shall be allowed as of course to the prevailing party unless the Court otherwise directs....

The Comment to Rule 54(d) states that:

Costs almost always amount to less in a successful litigant's total expenses in connection with a law suit and their recovery is nearly always awarded to the successful party.

The point of the foregoing is that § (3) of the statute states that expert witness fees and attorney's fees shall be assessed as Court costs. Since pursuant to Rule 54(d), costs "shall be allowed as of course to the prevailing party unless the Court otherwise directs," by operation of the statute reasonable expert witness fees and attorney's fees shall also be assessed by the Court. Again, the Chancellor in this case did not exercise any discretion as provided by the statute because she was of the opinion that § (3) of the statute does not apply to a prevailing Defendant, as she so stated in her Amended Order (R. 17, R. E. 17.)

In interpreting § 95-5-10, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, the "plain meaning rule" applies. Attached to this Brief as an Appendix are excerpts from the text Volume 2A Norman J. Singer, Statutes and Statutory Construction § 46:01 (Rev. 2000). § 46:01, *The Plain Meaning Rule*, pp. 113-122; 125-126, states in part as follows:

A basic insight about the process of communication was given classic expression by the Supreme Court of the United States when it declared that "the meaning of the statute muse, in the first instance, be sought in the language in which the act is framed, and if that is plain, . . . the sole function of the courts is to enforce it according to its terms." I this generally means when the language of the stature is clear and not unreasonable or illogical in its operation, the court may not go outside the statute to give it a different meaning. The court disclaimed that it was engaged in the process of interpretation when it decided what the statute "plainly" meant. It said "Where the language is plain and admits of no more than one meaning the duty of interpretation does not arise and the rules which are to aid doubtful meaning need no discussion."

What has come to be known as the plain meaning rule has been given expression in a variety of ways;³ "When the intention of the legislature is so apparent from the face of the statute that there can be no question as to its meaning, there is no room for construction."⁴ "It is not allowable to interpret what has no need of interpretation."⁵ "There is no safer nor better settled canon of interpretation than that when language is clear and unambiguous it must be held to mean what it plainly expresses."⁶

One who questions the application of the plain meaning rule to a provision of an act must show either that some other section of the act expands or restricts its meaning, that the provision itself is repugnant to the general purview of the act, or that the act considered in pari materia with other acts, or with the legislative history of the subject matter, imports a different meaning. 20

§ (3) of Mississippi Code § 95-5-10 is plain and unambiguous on its face. It is clear and not unreasonable or illogical in its operation. An exception to the well-established rule concerning a trial Court assessing expert witness fees and attorney's fees is that the Court may do so when authorized by statute. *Stanton & Associates, Inc. v. Bryant Const. Co., Inc.*, 464 So.2d 499 (Miss. 1985). Code § 95-5-10(3) clearly is such an exception to this rule. "All reasonable expert witness fees and attorney's fees," by the plain meaning rule, means what it says. There is absolutely no limitation on the face of this statute that applies its operation only to successful Plaintiffs.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out above, this Court should render a decision reversing the decision of the Chancellor as to the assessment of expert witness fees and attorney's fees as costs, and remanding the case to the lower Court for a hearing as to the amount of expert witness fees and attorney's fees to be allowed to Appellants' Camp brothers and Tate.