SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Curley Camp

Vs.

Clint Stokes

Appellee

Appellant

Certificate of Interested Parties

Certificate of Interested Persons is as follows:

Clint Stokes - Appellee

Curley Camp - Appellant

Carter Dobbs - Appellant's attorney

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Curley Camp	Appellant
Vs.	
Clint Stokes	Appellee

Summary of Argument

Appellant is not entitled to attorney's fees and expert fees under §95-5-10 because the attorney's fees described in that statute are for the relief of the Plaintiff for having to proceed with a case under the statute against a Defendant for Wrongfully cutting trees. Further, Appellant is not entitled to attorney's fees because they did not file an attorney's fees affidavit or an affidavit of expert fees nor any other documentation evidencing fces that would be reasonable in such a case. Further still, Appellant did not seek to have surveys done prior to the institution of suit which could have prevented suit from ever being filed.

Argument

1. §95-5-10 Mississippi Code Annotated (1972) as amended, *Cutting Trees Without Consent of Of Owner*, gives the prescription by which a wronged land-owner may be made whole after someone other than himself, without his permission, has cut trees belonging to the landowner. Each section of the statute speaks to the relief to be provided to the wronged landowner if it is shown that he in fact owned the timber. This includes section (3) of the statute that reads "All reasonable expert witness fees and 1.4.4.1.4.

attorney's fees shall be assessed as Court costs in the discretion of the Court." When read in the context of the entire statute, (3) merely provides that the Court in its discretion, may provide additional relief to the wronged landowner in the form of expert witness fees and reasonable attorney's fees for having to bring the action. This section does not provide for attorney's fees and expert witness fees of the Defendant, should the Plaintiff not be successful. For such reason, Appellant should not be able to seek attorney's fees and expenses under the veil of this statute.

2. Appellant cited in his Motion to Amend Judgment filed in the lower court, Rule 54(d) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure that reads: "Except when express provision thereof is made in a statute, costs shall be allowed as of course to the prevailing party unless the Court otherwise directs...". However, the comment to Rule 54 (d) explains that the meaning of costs is <u>not</u> synonymous with expenses and states that taxable costs under Rule 54(d) are more limited and represent official expenses such as court fees. The comments goes further and describes what are considered fees under Rule 54(d) by stating that fees commonly include filing fees, clerk's and sheriff's charges, and witnesses' fees.1

The last paragraph of the comment describes expenses and reads thusly, "Expenses include all the expenditures actually made by a litigant in connection with the action. Both fees and costs are expenses but by no means constitute all of them. Absent a special statute or rule, or an exceptional exercise of judicial discretion, such items as attorney's fees, travel expenditures, and investigatory expenses will not qualify either as statutory fees or reimbursable costs. These expenses must be borne by the litigants."

¹ Please note that the witnesses' fees to which the comment refers are the official witness fees for mileage (i.e. \$5.00).

Since §95-5-10 Mississippi Code Annotated (1972) as amended, *Cutting Trees Without Consent of Of Owner* does not apply to Appellant's attorney's fees and expenses, there is no special statute or rule that would warrant the payment of such by Appellee. At best, Appellant may be entitled to recover the ten dollar (\$10.00) answer fee, but even that was in the discretion of the lower court.

1 . 1 1.

3. Appellant did not provide unto the lower court, documentation of the alleged expert witness fee of \$2,350.00 nor did he provide an Attorney's Fees affidavit explaining why \$9,897.50 was reasonable in this matter. Appellee maintains that neither the attorney's fees nor the expert witness fees are reasonable under the circumstances.

4. Appellant never offered to have a survey performed or conducted prior to the institution of the suit. Even after Appellee paid the expense of having the property surveyed, Appellant saw fit not to act reasonably in having their own survey conducted with the antique deeds. For such reason, any expense born by Appellant in hiring a surveyor (expert) should be born by Appellant.

Conclusion

Prescription for *Defendant's* attorney's fees is not found under §95-5-10 of Mississippi Code Ann. (1972). Appellant has offered no proof of the attorney's fees or expert fees nor has he made any statement of their reasonableness. Appellant did not mitigate possible damages of suit by conducting a survey prior to suit being instituted. For these reasons, the lower Court's ruling denying Defendant attorney's fees should be upheld. 4 4 4 ₁ 7 4

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Appellee would humbly request

that this Honorable Court uphold the lower court's ruling and assess all Appellee's costs of defending this appeal.